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2
3
4 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
5 NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
6 SAN JOSE DIVISION
.
8 RAAD ZURAIR RABIER, Case N0.5:19-cv-00944-EJD
Plaintiff,
9 ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT’'S
10 V. MOTION TO DISMISS
1 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, et al., Re: Dkt. No. 24
Defendants.
Ew 12
§ % 13 In April 2016, Plaintiff was allegedly assaultat the Robert F. Peckham Federal Building
% % 14 || in San Jose, California. Defemda argue that, to the extent this allegation is true, they are
E g 15 || improper defendants because the Federal TorrSlaict (“FTCA”) bars Plaintiff from pursuing
(% E 16 || the asserted causes of action agaihe United States. The Court finds this motion suitable for
g E;’ 17 || consideration without oral argumereeN.D. Cal. Civ. L.R. 7-1(b). Having considered the
= % 18 || Parties’ papers, the CoBRANTS Defendants’ motion to dismiss.
19 l. BACKGROUND
20 A. Factual Background
21 On April 12, 2016, Plaintiff arrived at theoBert F. Peckham Federal Building (“Federal
22 || Building”) around 10:30 a.m. for an appointmentteg Social Security Administration (“SSA”)
23 || Office. First Amended Complaint (“Compl.”) { 25kt. 14. Upon arrival, Plaintiff went through
24 || a security scan without incidenid. I 26. After Plaintiff’'s appoimhent, when he was attempting
25 || to leave, he accidentally activated an alapon leaving the building through an emergency exit
26 || door. Id. 1 29-30. A security guard approacheaiiff and signaled for him to waitd. § 31.
27 || This guard was Paragon employee Mario Ayala (“Ayaldd). Ayala took Plaintiff to the lobby
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area and asked for Plaintiff's identificatiotd. § 32. Plaintiff complied and handed Ayala his
California Driver’s Licenseld.

Plaintiff was seated in the lobby ardd. 1 34. Ayala gave Plaiffits license to guard
Jose Leuterio (“Leuterio”). A period of time padsPlaintiff was waiting foat least 30 minutes.
Id. 17 38—40. Plaintiff approached Ayala and dskbat the delay was and why he was being
held. Id. § 40. Ayala told Plaintiff to continue waitindd. Plaintiff asked Ayala if he could
speak to Ayala’s supervisor, but Ayala télthintiff his supervisor was not preseid. § 41.
Plaintiff asked for the supervisor’'s phone numder. Ayala dictated the maber to Plaintiff, who
had taken his cell phone out to type the numikery 42. During this interaction, another guard,
Joseph Vegas (“Vegas”), approadPlaintiff from behind yellig, “You can’t use your phone in
here!” Id.  43. Vegas yelled, “Do you want me toest you?” and Platiif responded, “Arrest
me for what?”Id. Without warning, Vegas twisted apthned Plaintiff's rght arm behind his
back; Leuterio rushed to Plaintiff's rightds and began yelling, ‘@nply” and “He is not
complying.” Id. 1 44. Vegas handcuffed Plaintiff's right wridtl. § 47. Vegas and Leuterio then
slammed Plaintiff's left-side body, face-first, idanearby wall, causing a laceration and abrasid
to his left-side bodyld.  46. Because Plaintiff's right wtigzas pinned by Vegas, he could not
use his hands to soften the blow, whichsealia cut on the left side of his hedd. § 47. Plaintiff
was next slammed to the floorshight-side body contéed the floor first, and then the guards
turned him face downld. Plaintiff was then handcuffedd. He was bloody, bruised and
disoriented.Id. § 48. Plaintiff alleges that he magie movements during this time; he neither
physically nor verbally threatenexl resisted the officerdd. ¥ 45, 47.

The Paragon guards called the San Josed”Dipartment (“SJPD”) through the Federal
Protective Service’s (“FPS”) Denver Megacentit.  52. Vegas then tightened the handcuffs
such that they caused laceratiow druising to Plaintiff's wristsld.  53.

B. Relationship Between FPS and Paragon
In many federal buildings, a Facilite®urity Committee (“FSC”), composed of

representatives of all deral tenants of the building, decidelsat security countermeasures to
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implement based on their budgetary constraintisaayency priorities. Declaration of Roger
Scharmen (“Scharmen Decl.”) § 11, Dkt. 26. did in these decisions, the FPS provides an
assessment of local conditions and security sidaat this recommendation is not binding on the
FSC. Id. 11 11, 16. Contract security guards arecgiby one of the secity countermeasures
requested by the FSQd. § 11.

In April 2016, Paragon Systems Inc. (Paragmoyided security seening at the Federal
Building. Id. { 6. Paragon is a private corporatidth. Under the contract between Paragon anc
FPS, Paragon provided security services and maatdire day-to-day sexdty at the facility,i.e.
security and screening. Dedé#ion of Kelly Minturn (“Minturn Decl.”) 1 6, Dkt. 25. FPS
provided oversight of the sedyrcontract but did not oversétaragon employee’s day-to-day
activities or control the physicakrformance of the contradid. The security guards, or
Protective Security Officers (“PSOs*jre Paragon employees—FPS has no human resources
personnel department to manage PSIOsy 7. Paragon is responsiliée most of the training of
PSOs, including their certificatian lethal and nonlethal weapqnesponse procedures, and the
use of force.Id. 1 8-9. Pursuant to the FPS-RaraContract, Paragon provides all
management, supervision, equipment, and certifications for PEO% 8.

Paragon advertises PSO positions and interend evaluates candidates. Scharmen
Decl. 1 10. FPS performs federal backgrouretkh for candidates and makes a suitability
determination based on information disgd in that backgund investigationld. While
Paragon does most of the training, FPS does administer a written examination of PSOs, whi
they must pass in order to begin work. Schared. § 17. Paragon, however, has latitude in
working with the contractor to respond tortds or deficienciesh®wn by the test datdd. FPS
officers perform period checks of security pdstensure compliance with the contrald. § 15.
FPS Directives establish a minimum yearly numdfecompliance checks, but FPS Officers have

discretion to increase them in response tollooaditions and the FPS regional director can alter

! The Court refers to the Paragonivate security guards as eitlfesragon employees or PSOs.
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the minimum monitoring standard where circumstances petthitPSOs are not federal law
enforcement officers, they are not empowered yttamake arrests, searches, or seizures.
Minturn Decl. 1 13. They can perform administratinspections and detain violent or disruptive

persons, but their authority to detain is luhsa their state’s citizémarrest authorityld. When

PSOs discover a prohibited item or believe a person may have committed a federal crime, they

contact either FPS or local law enforcemerd bold the person until a law enforcement officer
arrives to make a constitutional search and seizdre.
C. Procedural History
Plaintiff filed his initial complaint on Febary 20, 2019. Complaint for Damages agains|
United State of America, Dkt. 1. On May 9, 2019, he filed his first amended complaint. First
Amended Complaint (“FAC”), Dkt. 14. In this amded complaint, Plaintifisserts five causes of
action: (1) negligence and premises liability, (2) negligemdpj training, and supervision by
Defendants, (3) assault and battery, (4) falggisonment and false arrest, and (5) negligent
infliction of emotional distres$.FAC Y 66-94. Defendants filed a motion to dismiss on July 1
20192 Motion to Dismiss (“Mot.”), Dkt. 24 Plaintiff filed an opposition on July 26, 2019.
Opposition re Motion to Dismiss (“Opp.”), Dkt03 On August 2, 2019, Defendants filed a reply
Reply re Motion to Dismiss (“Reply”), Dkt. 32.
Il. LEGAL STANDARDS
A. Rule 12(b)(1) Motion

The question of whether the United States\waived its sovereign immunity is one of

2 California law, as applied in an FTCA case, sloet recognize negligent infliction of emotional
distress as a separatet toom negligence White v. Soc. Sec. Admiall F. Supp. 3d 1041, 1054
(N.D. Cal. 2015). Because Plaintiff's first caugection is for negligence, his fifth cause of
action is redundant arllISMISSED with prejudice as it is duplicative.
3 Plaintiff asserts his claims against several nigdats: The United States of America, the U.S.
Department of Homeland Security (“DHS”), unknown FPS officers, and the FPS. The only p
defendant in an FTCA actiontise United States of Americallgeier v. United State®09 F.2d
869, 871 (6th Cir. 1990) (“The FTCA clearly provsdihat the United States is the only proper
defendant in a suit alleging negligence by a faldemployee.” (citing 28 U.S.C. § 2679(apge
also28 U.S.C. § 2679(b)(1). The claims agdiDefendants FPS, Homeland Security, and
unknown FPS officers are thtdSMISSED. SeeMot. at 18.
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subject matter jurisdiction and should lmmsidered under a Rule 12(b)(1) stand&®de, e.g.
McCarthy v. United State850 F.2d 558, 560 (9th Cir. 1988)o{ding Rule 12(b)(1) motion is
proper mechanism for motida dismiss FTCA claim)Nevin v. United State§96 F.2d 1229,
1231 (9th Cir. 1983) (concluding that whethesadetionary function exemption applies under
FTCA is a question of subgt-matter jurisdiction).

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) allosv®efendant to attack a complaint for lack
of subject matter jurisdion. A defendant may either challenmirisdiction “facially” by arguing
the complaint “on its face” lacks jurisdiction ‘$actually” by presenting extrinsic evidence
(affidavits, etc.) demonstrating the lackjofisdiction on thedcts of the caséWolfe v.
Strankman392 F.3d 358, 362 (9th Cir. 2008&afe Air for Everyone v. Meye&73 F.3d 1035,
1039 (9th Cir. 2004). In resohlyy a factual attack, the districourt may review evidence beyond
the complaint without converng the motion to dismiss intine for summary judgmentafe Air
373 F.3d at 1039Vhite v. Lee227 F.3d 1214, 1242 (9th Cir. 2000). No presumptive truthfulness
attaches to the plaintiff's allegations and the eristeof disputed material facts will not preclude
the trial court from evaluating the merits of jurisdictional clailGsegory Vill. Partners, L.P. v.
Chevron U.S.A., Inc805 F. Supp. 2d 888, 895 (N.D. Cal. 2011). Once the defendant presents
extrinsic evidence, the plaintiff, who bears thedam of proving jurisdiction exists, must establish
jurisdiction with evidencérom other sourcesld.; see alsdavage v. Glendale Union High Sch.
343 F.3d 1036, 1039 n.2 (9th Cir. 2003).

B. Federal Tort Claims Act (FTCA)

The United States is immune fromitaunless it consents to be sudgdison v. U.S.822
F.3d 510, 517 (9th Cir. 2016) (citirkigeres v. United State840 U.S. 135, 139 (1950)). The
FTCA “waives the sovereign immunity of the Umnit8tates for actions in tort” and “vests the
federal district courts with exclusive juristian over suits arising from the negligence of
Government employeesValadez-Lopez v. Chertp56 F.3d 581, 855 (9th Cir. 2011). Thisis &
limited waiver of sovereign immunity; the Uniteda&s is only liable “to the same extent as a

private party for certain torts of federal empdey . . . in accordance with the law of the place
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where the act or omission occurredetlison 822 F.3d at 517 (quotation marks and citation
omitted);see als®8 U.S.C. § 1346(b)(1).

The FTCA's Independent Contractor Exception. The limited waiver of sovereign

immunity explicitly excludes “any contractor withe United States” from its definition of
“[e]mployee of the government.28 U.S.C. § 2671. This is knovas the independent contractor

exception to the FTCA and protects the United Stiatas vicarious liability for the negligent acts

of its independent contractor&dison 822 F.3d at 517-18. “Since the United States can be sued

only to the extent that it has waived its immyndue regard must bewgin to the exceptions,
including the independent contracexception, to such waiverUnited States v. Orleand25
U.S. 807, 814 (1976). Whether theitdd States has declined to exise day-to-day control over
the operations of its contractor is not timel ®f the analysis—the independent contractor
exception has no bearing on the United States’ FTCA liability fawisacts or omissions.
Edison 822 F.3d at 518. The United States may bedidld plaintiff hassufficiently alleged a
nondelegable or undelegated duty, which the Urtttiedles is directly liable for breachintyl.

Discretionary Function Exception. The limited waiver of sovereign immunity also

excludes acts that are discretionaryature—*acts that ‘invohg] an element of judgment or
choice.” United States v. Gaube#t99 U.S. 315, 322 (1991) (quotiBgrkovitz v. United States
486 U.S. 531, 536 (1988). If a “federal statute, regulation, or policy specifically prescribes a
course of action for an employee to follow,étbxception does not apply because “the employe
has no rightful option but tadhere to the directive.Berkovitz 486 U.S. at 536. The exception is
prevents judicial “second-guessi’ of legisldive and administrative decisions and thus the
exception should only protect “gavenent actions and decisiobased on considerations of
[social, economic, and political] policy.Berkovitz 486 U.S. at 537.

Intentional Tort Claims Exception. The FTCA limits its waiver of sovereign immunity

for claims involving assault, battery, false ingpnment, and other intentional torts—these may
only be brought if the federal employees vdoonmitted the tort are “investigative or law

enforcement officers of the United States Govemrmrie28 U.S.C. 8§ 2680{). Investigative or
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law enforcement officer means “any officertbé United States who is empowered by law to
execute searches, to seize evice, or to make arrests foolations of Federal law.'ld.
Immunity determinations for intentional tortauthdepend on a federal officer’s legal authority,
not on the particular exes@ of that authorityMillbrook v. United State669 U.S. 50, 56 (2013).
Under the statute, an intentionatt is not actionable unlessatcurs while the law enforcement
officer is “acting within the scopef his office oremployment.”ld. at 57 (quoting 28 U.S.C.
2680(h)). Hence, if the intentioln@rtfeasor is not &deral officer, the court has no jurisdiction
under the FTCA to considére intentional tort.
1. DISCUSSION

Defendants argue that thi®@t lacks subject matter juristion over Plaintiff's claims
because they are outside the scope oFieA’s waiver of sovereign immunitySeeMot. at 7—
18. Defendants assert that eitlthe claims are barred by eithiee intentional tort claims,
independent contractor, or distionary function exceptiondd. Defendants bring a factual
12(b)(1) attack, Plaintiffs argueishis improper. Thus, the Court must first determine if it can
consider extrinsic evidence andoéve factual disputes withoabnverting this motion into one
for summary judgment.

A. Consideration of Extrinsic Evidence/Resolution of Factual Disputes

A court may consider extrinsic evidenceaifRule 12(b)(1) motiowithout converting it
into one for summary judgmengafe Aif 373 F.3d at 1039. Plaintiffgmes, however, that it is
improper for the Court to consider Defendamtsirinsic evidence because “the question of
jurisdiction depends on the resolutiof factual issues going togtmerits.” Opp. at 5 (citing
Roberts v. Corrothers812 F.2d 1173, 1177 (9th Cir. 1987) (&telatively expansive standards
of a 12(b)(1) motion are not appropriate for detemgnurisdiction in a case . . . where issues of
jurisdiction and substae are intertwined.”).

A court may use a factual Rule 12(b)(1) motiomesolve issues of jurisdiction where the
qguestion of jurisdiction is separate from the heson of factual issuegoing to the meritsSee

Roberts 812 F.2d at 1177. Hence, iktfurisdictional issues are segge “threshold” questions, a
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factual Rule 12(b)(1) motion is proper. Questiohsvhether FTCA exceptions apply fit within
this category—they arestinct, threshold questiord jurisdiction and thus can be resolved using
a Rule 12(b)(1) standar&bee, e.gEdison 822 F.3d at 517 (approving of Rule 12(b)(1)’s use in
determining if independenbatractor exception appliedJAl v. Smith2018 WL 534305, at *4-6
(N.D. Cal. Jan. 24, 2018) (assessing whether inugr® contractor andiscretionary function
exceptions applied to TSA screeners purstaa factual Rule 12(b)(1) motion).

To rebut this case law, Plaintiff cites\dlliston Basin Interstate Pipeline Co. v. An
Exclusive Gas Storage Leasehold and Eas¢imehe Cloverly Subterranean, Geological
Formation 524 F.3d 1090 (9th Cir. 2008) ahdre Wilshire Courtyard729 F.3d 1279 (9th Cir.
2013) as support thatelresolution of the jusdictional issues usirgxtrinsic evidence is
improper. Opp. at 5. Neither of these casewgver, discuss or analyze the FTCA or whether
FTCA exceptions present threstigirisdictional issues. Furthareither involves a factual Rule
12(b)(1) motion. Thus, these cases are inapplicable.

Plaintiff also cites t&erns v. United State§85 F.3d 187 (4th Cir. 2009) aMbntez v.
Department of Nayy392 F.3d 147 (5th Cir. 2004). Bothldh¢hat jurisdictonal dismissal is
inappropriate in an FTCA “scope-of-employntiecase because “scope-of-employment issues”
are determinative of both jurigtion and the underlying merit¥&erns 585 F.3d at 196ylontez
392 F.3d at 148In Montez the court followed the general rule that “a jurisdictional attack
intertwined with the merits of an FTCA claimaiid be treated like anylodr intertwined attack,
thereby making resolution of the jurisdictibmssue on a Rule 12(b)(1) motion improper.” 392
F.3d at 150. IfKerns however, the court explicitly statéuat the same “general rule” would not
apply to disputes involving vdther the independent contmacor discretionary function

exceptions applied because those are sepgapaiddictional issues. 585 F.3d at 196.

Our conclusion that a Rule 12(b)(1) dismissal was inappropriate in
this case is not undermined by our decisioMiilliams v. United
States 50 F.3d 299 (4th Cir.1995), wieewe approved dismissal of
an FTCA claim under Rule 12(b)(1). The disputed issues in
Williams—whether the alleged employee was an independent
contractor and whether thaliscretionary-function exception
applied—were threshold issues wholly unrelated to the basis for
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liability under the FTCA For example, whether the Government had
managed or supervisetie activities of the alleged tortfeasor in
Williams thereby rendering the tortfeasam independent contractor
rather than an employee, was not an issue intertwined with the merits
of the FTCA claim then begn pursued. With the scope-of-
employment issue in this case, howeuhe conduct of Scott herself,
rather than her status, is det@rative of both juisdiction and the
merits of the FTCA claim.

Id. (emphasis added).

Plaintiff's case law is thumapposite—the issue at handhist whether the Paragon guards
were “acting in the scope of employment,” itnkether: (1) Paragon guardre “investigative or
federal law enforcement officers,” (2) FPS exemtisebstantial supervision over the guards, and
(3) the security policies were an esige of the discretionary functiorCf. Kerns 585 F.3d at 196;
Montez 392 F.3d at 148 (discussing “scope of emplept” issues). While Defendants provide
no case law stating that the intienal torts exception may be ragin a Rule 12(b)(1) motion, the
Court finds the reasoning &ernsanalogous: whether Paragon gsaate “federal officers”
within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 2680(h) istaotict from whether they committed intentional
torts. Likewise, the independent contra@nod discretionary function exceptions present
threshold questions that distirfobm the merits—their resolain has no bearing on the conduct g
the Paragon officers or the FPS. Thus, tlosr€will apply Rule 12(b)(1)’s factual attack
standard and need not convert Defendants’ matitana Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss or Rule
56 motion for summary judgment.

B. Intentional Tort Claims Exception

Plaintiff asserts two intentional tort clainassault and battery (thighuse of action) and
false imprisonment and false arrest (fourth cafsection). For these intentional torts to fall
within the FTCA’s waiver of soveign immunity, the tortfeasor raube an “investigative or law
enforcement officer of the United States Government” who is “empowered by law to execute
searches, to seize evidence, or to nwkests for violations of Federal lawSee28 U.S.C.

§ 2680(h) (listing assault, battery, false imprisontpand false arrest). Defendants argue that
because the Paragon guards are not “investigatilaav enforcement officers,” the FTCA does

not permit this Court to hear the int®nal tort claims. Mot. at 16-18.
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In Wilson v. United Statethe Second Circuit held thatrpée officers are not “investigate
or law enforcement officers” because (1) fed&al does not vest them with the power to make
arrests, but only “recommend that [issuance ofjmast warrant” and (2) they can only perform
consensual searches of pargheeperty and thus are not empaee by law to “execute searches”
or “seize evidence.” 959 F.2d 12, 15 (2d Cir. 19928 deral courts havfarther concluded that
Transportation Safety Administration (“TSA”) s&ners are not “investigative or law enforceme
officers” within the meaning of Section 2680(Igee, e.gWalcott v. United State2013 WL
5708044, at *2 (E.D.N.Y. Oct. 18, 2013) (“As sevarthler district courthave concluded, TSA
screeners are not ‘investigativelaw enforcement officer[s]’ whin the meaning of § 2680(h).”
(alteration in original))|d. at *3 (collecting cases). TiWalcottcourt noted screeners are not
empowered by law to “seize evidence” or “execute searches;” federal law delegates that aut
to “law enforcement officer[s] . . . with diffent job qualificationgnd responsibilities.'ld. at *2.
TSA screeners may only conduct narrgpecific administrative searchel. If a screener finds
something illegal, “[they are] natuthorized to arrest the personseize the item, but instead mus
call a Port Authority potie officer to do so.”ld. TheWalcottcourt thus held that TSA screeners
were not “investigative or law enforcement officer[sld. at *1. While some cases have reache
an alternative conclusion, thatiiselevant here: Plaiift alleges no federal law that authorized or
directed Paragon employees to seardagser arrest building entrant€ompare Armato v. Doe
1, 2012 WL 13027047, at *3—4 (D. Ariz. May 15, 2018dlding TSA agents qualify as
“investigative or law enforcement officer[s]ébause federal law authorized TSA agents to
“screen,”i.e., search, passengengjth Compl. 1 15, 18 (alleging Paragon security guards, whd
are directed by contract, not feddeawv, to search entrants toetlsSA Office, assaulted him).

Contrary to Plaintiff's assedn, Paragon PSOs are not FPS offic&&.Compl. § 15
(addressing Plaintiff's intentionalrtoclaims and statinghe relevant actsral/or omissions of the
FPS officer(s) caused Plaintiff’s injuries”). rdgon PSOs are not empowered by federal law to
perform searches, make seizures, or arrest anydimgurn Decl. I 13. In fact, much like TSA

screeners, PSOs are only permitted to carry out administrative inspections and detain peopl¢
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are disruptive, violent, suspected of committing a crime, or violating federal regulations while

federally-owned propertyld.; see also Wilsar959 F.2d at 15. In the related state action, PSO$

testified they only have power to detain (nokat) individuals on fedekraroperty because they
are only “security” guards. Schddeclaration (“Scharf Decl.”ex. B at ECF 5, Dkt. 29. If the
PSOs do detain someone, they are instructedntact the FPS Megacenter, who dispatches an
FPS office or local law enforcement officehavcan perform a consitional, statutorily
authorized arrest, if necessary. Minturn D§cl3. Indeed, here, aftBraintiff was detained,
Paragon employees contacted FPS MegacenterezLdeclaration (“Lopez Decl.”) 1 5, Dkt. 27.
PSOs are therefore not “investig&tior federal law enforcement afér[s]” because they lack the
power to “execute searches, to seize evidence, or to make arrests for violations of Federal Ig
28 U.S.C. § 2680(h\ilson 959 F.2d at 15yvValcott 2013 WL 5708044, at *2—3.

Plaintiff does not respond to Defendarggjuments that Paragon employees are not
“investigative or law enforcement officers okthinited States Governmig’ Mot. at 16—17.
Plaintiff argues only that FPS is a law enforcenag@ncy with law enforcement officers, but this
misses the point. Opp. at 16. Defendants’ argumseardt whether FPS is a federal agency with
federal officers, but whether the Paragon guards‘investigative or federal law enforcement
officers.” As demonstrated above, privagewrity guards are not federal law enforcement
officers. The law requires that the specific ini@mal tortfeasor be awaenforcement officer, not

that they work at, or in conneati with, a law enforcement agencyee Millorook569 U.S. at

56. No FPS officer was on scene during the atlexgsault and the alleged tortfeasors are Paraxon

guards, who are not “federal officersSeelL.opez Decl. 1 5-6; Compl. 11 42-53. Thus, Plainti
has not alleged the intentional torts were committed by an “investigative or federal law
enforcement officer.” Accordingly, the intentional torts exception applies and Defendants’ m
to dismiss iISSRANTED for claims three and four.
C. Independent Contractor Exception
The FTCA's limited waiver of sovereign munity explicitly excludes “any contractor

with the United States” from its definition of “employee of the government.” 28 U.S.C. § 2671
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The United States cannot be vicasly liable for the acts ain independent contractdedison
822 F.3d at 517. Some duties, however, are riegdkle and the United States can remain
directly liable for itsowntorts. Yanez v. United State®3 F.3d 870, 872 (9th Cir. 1995).

Defendants argue that Plaintiff's first cause of action (negligence and premises liabilit)

must be dismissed because this Court lacks subjettenurisdiction over it since it is outside the

scope of the FTCA. Mot. at 7. Plaintiff rebtitss using two theoriegl) Paragon guards are not
independent contractors becat$ts exercised sufficient day-teydcontrol over the guards and
(2) FPS had a non-delegable duty over the armedigeguards. Opp. at 7. The Court addresse
these arguments in turn.

1. Sufficient Control/Subgantial Supervision

“A critical element in distinguishing an egcy from a contractor is the power of the
Federal Government ‘to control the detaipgdy/sical performance ahe contractor.” United
States v. Orleangl25 U.S. 807, 814 (1976) (quotihggue v. United Stated12 U.S. 521, 528
(1973)). “Under the FTCA, the United Statesudbject to liability fo the negligence of an
independent contractor only if it can be shdhat the government hadthority to control the
detailed physical performancetbie contractor and exercised staogial supervision over its day-
to-day activities.”Laurence v. Dep’'t of Nayyp9 F.3d 112, 113 (1995).

Where a contract directs the performancthefindependent contractor, this generally wil
not convert the independent contadnto a government employedutery v. United Stated24
F.3d 944, 957 (9th Cir. 2005). The United Stawey fix “specific and pgcise conditions to
implement federal objectives” without becamiliable for an independent contractor’s
negligence.Orleans 425 U.S. at 816. Standards that designed to “secure federal safety
objectives” also do not convaah agent into an employedutery 424 F.3d at 957. Detailed
regulations and inspections are nadewnce of an employee relationshigl. Thus, “the ability to
compel compliance with federal regulation doesam@ange a contractorfgersonnel into federal
employees.”ld. There must besubstantialsupervision” over theontractor to find the

individual was acting as a government employiee (emphasis added). AHaintiff notes, the
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government must have the authority to control thetdiledphysical performance of the
contractor.” Opp. at 7 (quotirigetnes v. United State820 F.2d 1517, 1518 (9th Cir. 1987))
(emphasis added).

Plaintiff argues that because the Paragopleyees needed direction from FPS following
the sounding of the emergency exit alafRS controlled Paragon employees’ day-to-day
activities and substantially supesed them. Opp. at 11-12. Piaif also argues that Paragon
employees were not independent contractors because they referred to FPS Officer Lopez as
“supervisor.” Opp. at 12. Fiflg, Plaintiff argues that aanline report by the Government
Accountability Office (“GAQ”) shows substantialgervision because it stastthe FPS “manages
and oversees 13,500 PSOs” at various federaltfasil Opp. at 12. None of these arguments
allow the Court to conclude FPS “substantiallgimaw” and controlled ¢hday-to-day activities
of the guards.

First, the fact that Paragon PSOs wereatie@ to contact FPStaf the sounding of the
alarm does not show that FPS controlled“tteailed physical pedrmance” of Paragon
employees.Letnes 820 F.2d at 1518. The PSOs testified that they only made calls for someqg
setting off the building emergency exit alarm abtuice per year.” Scharf Decl., Ex. A at 11,
Ex. B at 103. Further, Paragon managed the detadmployment. FPS/DHS did not maintain a
personnel department to manage PSOs. iinbecl. { 6. Paragon, not FPS, supervised,
managed, and equipped PSOs, while FPS owlyighed contractual ovsight to ensure
compliance with the Contractd. 8. Paragon maintained PSOnmpaetency and disciplined its
PSOs.Id. § 11. FPS’s main involvement with PSOs was setting specific requirements for the
security contract and ensuring compliance with its ter@fsOrleans 425 U.S. at 816 (noting
that the United States may fix “specific aneég@se conditions to implement federal objectives”
without converting a contractto a federal employee). Thubkge instruction to call FPS once
someone set off the alarm is not “substantigksuision,” especially considering that Paragon,
rather than FPs, mainly oversaw Paragon employ®@es.Macharia v. United Stajex38 F. Supp.

2d 13, 27 (D.D.C. 2002) (“Broad supervisory contesen on a daily basis, does not suffice to
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demonstrate control over the physipalformance of the contractor.'§jngh v. S. Asian Soc'y of

George Washington Unis72 F. Supp. 2d 1, 10 (D.D.C. 2008Réquirements that a contractor

comply with certain regulations, sgifications, or standds [like the requirement that all incidents
be reported to FPS] in performing its workmmt, alone establish that the United States

supervised the contractor’'sydéo-day operation . . . .").

Second, Plaintiff submitted evidence contradgchis assertion that Officer Lopez was the

PSOs’ “supervisor.”SeePia Kim Declaration (“Kim Decl.”)Ex. 5 at 7, Dkt. 31 (police report
states supervisor name as Officer Lopdn)Exhibit 6 to the Kim Declaration, PSO Ayala affirms
that Lieutenant Meza, a Paragon employee, isupgrvisor. Kim Decl., Ex. 6 at 3 (“| want to
talk to your supervisor. | gave him Lt Meza phdhe. . . Mr. Rabieh decided to call Lt Meza);
see alsdecond Declaration of James A. Schafig¢ond Scharf Decl.”), Ex. A at 16-18, Dkt. 33
(testifying that Lieutenant Meza was his supervidar)Ex. B at 91-92 (Plaintiff testifying that he
remembers supervisor was Lieutenant Meza)caBse this is a Rule 12(b)(1) motion, the Court
can resolve factual disputes. Considering the evidence, themesevidence (made under oath)
showing Lieutenant Meza wasetupervisor of the Paragon employees, not Officer Lopez.

Finally, in the GAO report, on the same pagerfifficites, it referso PSOs as “contract
guards” and “a contracted security workforc&im Decl., Ex. 4 at 5. The forty-page report
spends only two-pages discuggiPSOs and notes, “FPS did matlude PSOs in its staffing
model,” further indicating that PSOs are not pdrthe FPS workforce but are contract workers.
Id. at 4.

Accordingly, Plaintiff has not shown thiie FPS exercised sufficient supervisory contro
over the day-to-day activés of Paragon PSOs.

2. Nondelegable Duty

Plaintiff argues that even if FPS did noteesise day-to-dayupervision over Paragon
employees, the federal government is still kabécause it owed him a nondelegable duty. He
argues “liability will attach for the governmentiendelegable duty to ensure that the contracto

employs safety procedures.” Compl. § 14 (quotttson 822 F.3d at 518 n.4). This principle
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is much narrower than Plaintiff contends: thik passage reads “Under the FTCA, the United
States may not be held vicariously liable. Howejmeculiar risk] liability has been construed as
creating direct liability for the government's nondelegable dugnsure that the contractor
employs proper safety procedureg&tiison 822 F.3d at 518 n.4 (alteration in original). Thus,
where an employer has delegated some respotisiild an independent contractor, the employ
may still be liable if the de@mted responsibilities wer@6ndelegable” because the work
performed is “inherently dangerdusr presents a “peculiar risk.”ld. at 518 & n.4.

Plaintiff focuses on the United States’ alldgendelegable duty in his opposition. Opp. :
13. Plaintiff argues that undemnidowner premise liability, Defendts are still liable for Paragon
PSOs’ acts or omissioAsOpp. at 9, 13 n.4. According toaitiff, under California law, the
proprietors of business premises also “owe a dutlydm patrons to maintain their premises in a
reasonably safe condition,” which “includesabiigation to undertak&easonable steps’ to
secure common areas against foreseeable crimitsabgthird parties that are likely to occur in
the absence of such peetionary measures.d. at 9 (citingDelgado v. Trax Bar & Grill 113
P.3d 1159, 1165 (Cal. 2005). Of course, often these “reasonable stepgilede the hiring of
security guardsDelgadq 113 P.3d at 1166.

In Schreiber v. Campnthe court held that the use of adrsecurity guards to protect one’s

property is not so inherently dgerous as to confer a nondelelgaduty upon the landowner. 848

4 Plaintiff refers to Defendants argument surrongdieculiar risk as “inglicable.” Opp. at 13
n.4. Defendants refer to thisdaeise Plaintiff cited the quote s First Amended Complaint.
Compl. T 14. Plaintiff seemingly reclassifieis argument as a nondelegable duty argument bas
on landowner premises liability. To the extent “desuisk” is still in issue, the Court agrees
with Defendants that Plaintiff does not allegg aeculiar risk posed by Paragon security guards
and that it would be difficult to consider the prsien of security guards as presenting a peculiar
risk to the public. Mot. at 1kee alsee.g, Chaffin v. United Stated76 F.3d 1208, 1214 (9th Cir.
1999) (recognizing peculiar risks dangers posed by truly extraordry circumstances like polar
bear attacks).
5 Plaintiff also argues negligent hirimga nondelegable duty. Opp. at 9 (cithawkins v. Wilton
51 Cal. Rptr. 3d 1, 5 (Cal. Ct. App. 2006) (statingt the employer of sarity guards may be
liable for the assaults of the security guarthd guards were negligently hired or placed in a
position to commit foreseeable acts). The Cdwtyever, does not address this argument here-
negligent hiring, supervision, ancéining is Plaintiff's second cae of action. Defendants do not
argue that the second cause diarcis barred by the independaaintractor exception, and thus
Plaintiff's briefing on this gbject is inapplicable.
Case No0.5:19-cv-00944-EJD
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F. Supp. 1170, 1177 (D.N.J. 1994). Plaintiff's prezaiBability claim focuses on Defendants’
alleged negligence in securing tefety of visitors to the Bkham Federal Building. Compl.
1 67. Plaintiff providesio facts showing Defendants negligerftiyled to take “reasonable steps”
to secure the building or that the usd?afagon guards was so dangerous that FPS had a
nondelegable duty over their actions. The meesgmce of armed guards is insufficient to
establish a nondelegable dugs Plaintiff presents no case lalowing armed security guards are
inherently dangerousSee SchreibeB48 F. Supp. at 1177 (holding deypient of armed security
guard is not inherently or abnormally darmes activity, absent knowdge of the dangerous
propensities of the guard). FurthPlaintiff has not shown Defenuls failed to take “reasonable
steps.” Delgadq 113 P.3d at 1165. Thus, Plaintifis not shown a non-delegable duty.

Accordingly, because Plaintiff has ntiosvn either day-to-day supervision or a
nondelegable duty, the FTCA’s independent contraetception applieand Defendants’ motion
to dismiss iIGRANTED for claim one.

D. Discretionary Function Exception

Defendants argue that Plaintiff's negligenirig, supervision, and training claim (claim

two) must be dismissed because it falls undefRRCA’s discretionary function exception. The

exception applies to government acttbat is of the type that isusceptible tgolicy analysis”

® The Court does not understand if Plaintifiguing the premises themselves were unsaifie
the presence of the guards gmeted a nondelegable duty on thedawner to make the premises
safe. The reasoning provided should not be construed as evaluating a negligence argument
typically would be brought under Rule 12(b)(6)ingsRule 12(b)(1). Té Court, however, cannot
construe Plaintiff's argument because it is uaclehat Plaintiff is aguing. Should Plaintiff
amend his complaint, he is instructed to clealgge the facts constiing negligence versus
Premises liability.

Defendants also argue this claim should Isentis under the discretionary function exception
because security decisions, like the implenteraof security measures, are discretioneBge
Macharia v. United State238 F. Supp. 2d 13, 25-26 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (holding “[d]ecisions
regarding how much safety equipment shoulgtmvided to a particat embassy, how much
training should be given to guards and embassployees, and the amouwitsecurity-related
guidance that should be provideecessarily entails balancingnspeting demands for funds and
resources” are exactly the typediscretionary functions @gress had in mind). Because
Defendants have discretion in implementing the level of security measures they deem appro
based on security needs and resource constréiat§ourt agrees that claim one is also barred q
the discretionaryunction exception.
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and “grounded in social, economic, and political policToole v. United State295 F.3d
1029, 1033-34 (9th Cir. 2002). The court must fask whether the challenged action was

discretionaryj.e., whether it was governed by a mandgtstatute, policy, or regulation.

Whisnant v. United State400 F.3d 1177, 1180-81 (9th Cir. 2005). Next, the court asks whether

the challenged action &f the type Congress meant to protddt. As an initial matter, the
challenged action is not governed by a mandatatyts, policy, or regulation and FPS directives
allow FPS significant discretion in construinghtact compliance by PSOs. Scharmen Decl.

1 15. Plaintiff does not contesttistep one is inapplicable.

Regarding step two, Plaintiff argues that “judgmeuatscerning safety-are rarely
considered to be susceptible to social, ecaopon political policy.” Opp. at 14 (quoting
Whisnant 400 F.3d at 1181). Plaintiff argues thal decision related to safety and law
enforcement decisions is outside tiscretionary function exceptioid. But, a mere relation to
issues of public safety does not place the casside the discretionafynction exception—where
the case relates to thdesign of safety measures and préoas, as opposed to their deficient
execution or implementation, it generally is “shielded by the discretionary function exception.
See Whisnand00 F.3d at 1181-82. Likewise, mattersaéntific and professional judgment,
especially judgments concerning safety, arelydoonsidered to be susceptible to social,
economic, or political policy.”ld. at 1181.

Plaintiff argues FPS was negligent in designiaglirectives and witieén safety policies,
specifically its requirement than FPS officer be called if asior set off an emergency alarm
and its “written safety policieegarding the use of force, wams, and detention.” Opp. at 14.
These “directives” and “written safety policiestasafety measure “designs” and are thus within
the discretionaryunction exceptionSee Whisnan400 F.3d at 1181-82. Moreover, as
established in the factual backgnd section of this order, FP3@e in the hiring, supervising,
and training of PSOs is adjustableee suprdA. The level of FPS supervision of contractor
guards implicates the use of FPS officers’ timd eesources. Therefore, decisions surrounding

how many guards to hire, and the use of Ff#8ews, implicate judgments based on “social,
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political, or economic policy.” Hence the mere factttthese relate to safety issues does not me

the discretionary function excepti is per se inapplicableCf. Vickers v. United State328 F.3d
944, 950 (9th Cir. 2000) (“This cauand others have held thdgcisions relating to the hiring,
training, and supervision of employees usugiliyolve policy judgments of the type Congress
intended the discretionary function extiep to shield.” (collecting cases Al 2018 WL
534305, at *5 (“The Ninth Circuit has made clda@at claims for negligent supervision of
employees falls squarely under thealetionary functn exception.”).

Accordingly, because the discretionary flioic exception applies to Defendants’ hiring,
supervision, and training decisiomxfendants’ motion to dismiss@GRANTED for claim two.

E. Limited Discovery

Plaintiff seeks limited jurisdiction discover®pp. at 6 n.2. A platiff seeking limited
jurisdictional discovery ilFTCA cases must allege “enough faxtaise a reasaile expectation
that discovery will reveal the evidence he seelic¢hter-Mad Family Partners, LLP v. United
States 709 F.3d 749, 751 (9th Cir. 2013) (noting the drdescretion vested ithe trial court to
permit or deny discovery). Plaintiff does not explin footnote two whadiscovery he seeks or

why it is likely to undermine Defendants’ argumenBee Dichter-Mad Family Partners, LLP v.

United States707 F. Supp. 2d 1016, (C.D. Cal. 2010) (“Additional discovery is not appropriats

present. Plaintiffs have npteaded ‘enough facts toisa a reasonable expectation that discover

will reveal evidence of’ the sought-after SEC policies and guidelines.” (qubiigbly 550
U.S. at 556)). Plaintiff has newven explained what evidence $eeks, let alone why discovery
presents a reasonable expectatioregéaling evidence he seek&ccordingly, Plaintiff's request
for discovery iDENIED.

IV.  CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ motion to dismiS®RBNTED. When a court

grants a motion to dismiss, the court may gthetplaintiff leave to amend a deficient claim
“when justice so requires.” Fed. R. Civ. P.d%2). Defendants do not argue leave to amend

would be futile. Plaintiff may file an amended cdept, except as to the negligent infliction of
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emotional distress claim, which is dismissed vpitejudice. If Plainff chooses to file an
amended complaint, it must be filed by December 2, 2019.

IT IS SO ORDERED.
Dated: November 6, 2019

EDWARD J. DAVILA !
United States District Judge
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